## A Comparative Study to Balance the Computational Complexity and Virtual Graphics in a Novel Surgical Simulator

Tianqi Wang, BSc

Mechanical Engineering

McGill University, Montreal

May 2020



A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering

© Tianqi Wang 2020

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract.	V
Résumé	vii
Acknowl	edgementsix
Preface a	nd Contribution of Authors xi
1. Thesi	s Introduction:1
2. Litera	ature Review:4
2.1	Medical Simulation4
2.2	Soft Tissue Modelling
2.2.1	Heuristic Modeling methodology9
	2.2.1.1 Geometrically based method:
	2.2.1.2 Mass-spring model:10
2.2.2	<b>Continuum-Mechanical Methodology:</b> 11
	2.2.2.1 Finite element method (FEM):12
2.2.3	Summary17
2.3	Frame Rate on Human Performance18
	i

2.4	Simulator Fidelity	22
3. Articl	le Manuscript	29
3.1	Rationale for Study	29
3.2	Study	30
3.2.1	Abstract:	32
3.2.2	Introduction	34
3.2.3	Methods	
3.2.4	Results	
3.2.5	Discussion	42
3.2.6	Conclusion	45
3.2.7	Appendix A	46
Refer	ence	47
4. Addit	tional Materials	49
4.1	Summary	49
4.2	Future Direction	52
References		

# List of figures

Figure 1 NeuroTouch simulator components
Figure 2 Free-form model deformation
Figure 3 Mass-spring system 10
Figure 4 FEM example
Figure 5 Snapping vertices process
Figure 6 2D example of element refinement method 16
Figure 7 Illustration of different methods for incorporating cuts into a tetrahedral mesh 17
Figure 8 Simplified rendering pipeline for computer graphics
Figure 9 An example of rendering process
Figure 10 A comparison between low and high-fidelity simulators
Figure 11 Model meshes displayed in intraoperative camera
Figure 12 The reference images to create realism for feedback
Figure 13 The first prototype of the muscle model
Figure 14 Optimized visual texture

# List of tables

Table 1	Model performance in the simulation platform	40
	* *	
Table 2	Visual feedback questionnaire	41

## Abstract

**Background**: High-fidelity medical simulators are widely implanted in surgical education programs because they are risk-free to patients and affordable. Moreover, they have similar learning transference capabilities from theory to reality compared to traditional training on a cadaver sample. However, it is impossible to maintain high fidelity without adding additional computing load. Therefore, the compromise between fidelity and user experience in medical simulators is still important.

**Objectives:** This project seeks to identify the virtual graphics requirements, in terms of computational complexity, to maintain the real-time virtual interactions between the user (trainee) and the simulator (trainer). There are three tasks to achieve this objective. First, to build a realistic visual feedback system for a high-fidelity medical simulator. Second, to examine the relationships between computational complexity and user experience. Third, to evaluate the user experience of the medical simulator.

**Methods:** Using images obtained from cadavers and actual patients as references, the author produced realistic textures to enhance the immersion of the trainees. Industry-standard software like Autodesk Maya and Substance Painter are involved in creating muscle surface colors and accurate geometric shape of bones. After completing a minimally invasive spine surgery on a cadaver, nine senior surgeons repeated the identical operation on a newly developed high-fidelity simulation training platform containing visual, audible and haptic feedback to simulate a

laparoscopy surgery. The surgeons then immediately filled out a questionnaire that assessed the visual feedback of the internal and external textures based on their previous experience. In addition to the texture, the surgeons judged the mesh quality based on the number of nodes, which were built from five additional muscle models that displayed the cross-section area penetrated by the same tool as in the simulator.

**Results:** Overall, visual feedback was considered good and achieved high satisfaction. Concerning the number of nodes, 45% of participants indicated that there was no difference between the five models. The remaining 55% participants considered that the first two highest quality models best matched their experience. The number of nodes and the frame rate revealed a positive linear correlation ( $r^2 = 0.925$ ) and the number of nodes had an impact on perception (p=0.02).

**Conclusions:** The model quality improves the reality of the simulated surgery, however it slows the refresh rate because of the extra computational complexity. This unique methodology suggests how much visual feedback compromise is needed to maintain real-time interactions. Future studies will serve to objectify this threshold.

## Résumé

**Contexte**: Les simulateurs médicaux haute-fidélité sont largement implantés dans les programmes de formation chirurgicale car ils sont sans risque pour les patients et abordables. En outre, il peut maximiser le transfert de l'apprentissage de la théorie à la réalité par rapport à la formation traditionnelle sur un échantillon de cadavre. Cependant, il est impossible de maintenir une haute-fidélité sans ajouter de charge de calcul supplémentaire. Par conséquent, le compromis entre fidélité et expérience d'utilisateur dans un simulateur médical est toujours important.

**Objectifs**: Construire un *feedback* visuel réaliste pour un simulateur médical hautefidélité. Deuxièmement, pour examiner les relations entre la complexité informatique et l'expérience utilisateur. Troisièmement, pour évaluer l'expérience utilisateur du simulateur médical.

Méthodes: À l'aide d'images de cadavres et de patients réels comme références, l'auteur a produit des textures réalistes pour améliorer l'immersion des stagiaires. Des logiciels standard comme Autodesk Maya et Substance Painter participent à la création de couleurs de surface musculaire et à la forme géométrique précise des os. Après avoir effectué une chirurgie de la colonne vertébrale minimalement-invasive sur un cadavre, neuf chirurgiens seniors ont répété l'opération identique sur une plateforme de formation par simulation haute-fidélité nouvellement développée contenant des commentaires visuels, sonores et haptiques pour simuler une chirurgie laparoscopique. Les chirurgiens ont ensuite immédiatement rempli un questionnaire qui évaluait la rétroaction visuelle de la texture interne et externe en fonction de leur expérience antérieure. En plus de la texture, les chirurgiens ont evalué la qualité du maillage en fonction du nombre de nœuds, qui ont été construits à partir de cinq modèles musculaires supplémentaires qui affichaient la zone de section transversale pénétrée par le même outil que dans le simulateur.

**Résultats**: Dans l'ensemble, les deux rétroactions visuelles ont été jugées bonnes et ont reçu un haut niveau de satisfaction. Pour le résultat de la qualité du maillage, 45% des participants ont indiqué qu'il n'y avait pas de différence entre cinq modèles. Les 55% de participants restants considéraient que les deux premiers modèles de la plus haute qualité correspondaient le mieux à leur expérience. Le nombre de nœuds et la fréquence d'images ont révélé une corrélation linéaire positive ( $r^2 = 0.925$ ) et le nombre de nœuds a eu un impact sur la perception (p = 0.02).

**Conclusions :** La complexité du modèle améliore la réalité du modèle simulé, mais elle ralentit le taux de rafraîchissement en raison de la complexité de calcul supplémentaire. Cette méthodologie unique suggère combien de compromis de rétroaction visuelle est nécessaire pour maintenir les interactions en temps réel. De futures études serviront à objectiver ce seuil.

## Acknowledgements

First, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Professor Mark Driscoll who has outstanding achievements in many fields: his extraordinary leadership and academic ability helped me through those tough roads. Without his persistent help, the goal of this project would not have been realized. I thank him for the stipend he provided so that I can focus more on my research without any worries. He has a convincing ability to handle many affairs and can balance life and work well. He taught me to face life positively and optimistically. And he is more than just a supervisor. He is more like a mentor and a good friend. He not only guides my graduate studies but also helps me plan my future career. I can never ask for a better supervisor during my graduate studies.

I am most grateful to every member of Musculoskeletal Biomechanics Research Lab for making my graduate student life enjoyable and memorable. Specially, I thank Ms. Sneha Patel and Ms. Emily Newell for editing and proofreading of the manuscript; Khaled El-Monajjed and Ibrahim El-Bojairami for their expertise in modeling and simulation. To all my colleagues, I sincerely hope that you have a bright future and good luck for your graduate studies. I also hope we can meet again sometime in the future.

I would like to thank Dr. Clement Forest, Mr. Aditya Bhatia and Mr. Pierre St-Hilaire in CAE healthcare. Their support in computer graphics allows me to better complete this simulator project. The excellent professional skills on them opened the door of image rendering for me, which pointed me to a new road of career.

I thank all surgeons that participated in the experiment and thank them for providing such valuable response that allowed me to complete my project.

To my friends, thank you for allowing me to adapt quickly in a new environment and bring me countless joys.

Finally, I thank family for all their support and encouragement from beginning to end of my master. To my parents, I thank you for your love and contribution that helped me to build a brighter future.

## **Preface and Contribution of Authors**

The thesis constructed in a manuscript-based style that is currently under review by the editorial board of Simulation in Healthcare. This study will help replicate a spinal microscope surgery into a novel medical simulator.

The candidate participated and contributed the research designs, conduct the questionnaires, data collection, analysis of results and drafting of manuscript.

CAE healthcare assisted the technology of creating realism visual feedback, and development of the simulator. Depuy Synthes provided the prototypes of experimental surgery and allowed surgeons to participate in this project.

Mr. Trevor Cotter and Mr. Khaled EI-Monajjed assisted in experiment set-up and questionnaire collection.

Professor Mark Driscoll was important in implementing and coordinating this large team project. He aided in the FEA theory coordination and research aspect of this applied project. Further he assisted in building the questionnaire that evaluated the visual feedback of the simulator. He also provided knowledge on statistical analyses.

## **Chapter 1**

## **1. Thesis Introduction:**

High-fidelity surgical simulation is becoming a universal pursuit in the field of simulation for this century. The extensive data from simulators can help surgeons to evaluate their performance in terms of generating and transferring surgeon skills [1]. Even though some studies confirmed that a low-fidelity simulator is enough to improve user's performance, the fidelity of simulator is still important [2]. In particular, during high-risk procedures, the fidelity level of the simulator should be maximized to replicate exactly each step as accurately as possible to minimize patient risk. A major component of simulator fidelity is the graphical representation, the so-called visual feedback, which should contain a bridge between theory and reality [3].

Building high-fidelity virtual reality simulations typically creates significant computer complexity, so a high-performance computer is required to produce real-time visual feedback and sustainable haptic output. Both features are important to provide the necessary immersion [3]. However, even today's most powerful commercial personal computers are still unable to simultaneously produce real-time output and accurate physical behavior for a high-fidelity simulator. This is because most simulators use finite element methods to present accurate physical behavior via constitutive models in the continuum mechanical method rather than surface models. The volumetric models in such simulators present the geometrical shape of the soft tissue and mathematical result of the finite element method provide realistic force output and topological changes. Since the nodes construct boundaries of the volumetric mesh, those mentioned results will be closer to reality as the number of nodes increases. However, too many nodes may hinder real-time interaction under load input. Therefore, understanding the relationship between number of nodes and visual feedback can avoid this conflict.

For real-time interaction, computers need to generate a frequency of at least 30 Hz, also known as 30 frames per second, to prevent degrading user performance by reducing the response time between user input and graphical output [4]. Thus, when the computer complexity prevents the real-time interaction, the compromise between complexity and visual feedback could help the simulator maintain the real-time interaction. This complexity is not only limited to number of nodes, but also reflects the texture embedded in the volumetric model. But few literature studies have examined the relationship among computational complexity, node number, visual feedback and frame rate. And at the same time, the current literature fails to quantify high and low fidelity because they define the levels based on their own interest. Therefore, this study has three objectives:

### **Objective 1**

To establish realistic visual feedback for a high-fidelity medical simulator;

### **Objective 2**

To examine how computer complexity affects the user experience; and

### **Objective 3**

To build a questionnaire to analyze those relationships.

To better understand these relationships, a comparative questionnaire was utilized to find reference points that satisfy the interactive experiences and visual feedback. A group of senior surgeons evaluated the simulator after performing the identical surgery procedure on a cadaver.

This novel approach allows surgeons to compare a side-by-side scenario that provides the best opportunity to evaluate the simulator's visual feedback based on their experience with the same real-life surgery on a cadaver. It also provides a unique perspective to expand the definition of high fidelity, namely the number of nodes. The number of nodes not only describes the computational complexity but also indicates the level of potential fidelity.

## Chapter 2

## 2. Literature Review:

## 2.1 Medical Simulation

The endoscopic operation technique, based on its advantages in avoiding damaging healthy tissue and reducing recovery time after operation, is gradually replacing traditional open surgery. However, the endoscopic technique increases the difficulties of operations because of the use of small perforation holes and relatively complicated optical and surgical instruments that require surgeons to practice those special skills of the surgery with extensive training [5]. Thus, medical simulators, the innovatory evolution of the surgical education process, gradually improve and dominate the traditional training system [6, 7]. The medical simulator has proven that it is a valid educational method for clinical knowledge and technical ability [8]. The development of this new technology dates back to developments in aviation and military simulators, both of which are seeking a safer and cheaper way to train novices. In 1904, Edwin Link invented the first aviation simulator known as the "blue box" [9]. It contained only essential mechanical, electrical and pneumatic systems, but nowadays, civilian aviation simulators include high-fidelity full-size control panels, radar, and display windows to express reality [10]. Therefore, pilots must first practice their skills on a simulator before attempting to operate a real aircraft. The reasons behind this process are self-evident, as the simulator is not only risk-free, saving time and money, but also easily transfers skills [11]. Similarly, surgeons have the same desires when learning new operations. Traditionally, surgeons must practice on animals, cadavers, and sometimes even patients. They follow the "see one, do one, teach one" method first announced by Halsted in 1890, which is still in using today [12]. Namely, with this technique, novice surgeons watch the procedure for the first time, then perform it under supervision and finally become experts and teach the procedure to the next novices. This is a time-based training system that requires a decent amount practice before operating on real patients. Whether we use this or another system, medical simulators can be assigned to different steps of the learning process and help residents to practice and provide feedback. They develop their clinical capabilities without compromising patient safety [1]. Moreover, most medical simulators are suited for users at all levels, who can then practice the skills and knowledge without having to worry about making mistakes that harm patients [4]. In addition, simulators can implement iterative processes to maximize learning transfer [13].

In summary, the advantages of medical simulators are that they avoid risks to patients and learners, reduce undesired interference, can create tasks and programs on demand, can repeatedly practice skill, can customize training for individuals, and improve retention rates and accuracy. The simulators also enhance the transition of training from classroom to actual situations, and have the potential to become a standard assessment tool for assessing student performance and diagnosing educational outcomes [14].

There is plenty of research that provides evidence to prove the educational advantages of simulators [1]. The most important evidence is that the simulator can provide accurate informative feedback [15]. The feedback can be evaluated by the user and the instructor who monitors the surgeon's progress towards becoming well acquainted with the surgery. To be specific, as an example one of the types of feedback may be the time that the participants spend on a task. It can also help surgeons to track whether their surgical trajectory is close to the ideal one [13, 16, 17].

Therefore, the user of simulators regards educational feedback as the fundamental feature. Another aspect is repetitive exercise. The repetition can help the learner to correct mistakes, reduce reaction time and maintain the familiar skills [18, 19, 20]. Studies also found that the surgeons can achieve higher learning efficacy if they are submitted to a range of difficulty which is an essential component of a simulator [21]. Another aspect is training groups. Unlike the traditional education scenario, the simulator can satisfy the multiple learning strategies in large and small groups, as well as individual independent learning [22]. Also, when the range of actual patients is limited, simulators can be used to display rare, low-frequency patient problems for educational purposes [23]. Medical simulators can then provide a controlled environment, which means that simulators can force the learner or trainee to rely more on themselves than on external pressure [24]. Moreover, for personalized learning speed, simulators can be modified based on individual learning needs. This is possible because medical simulations break down complex tasks into small parts that can accept different learning rates [25]. Some studies have found that simulators can provide realistic situations and improve the learner's response to critical incidents [26].

However, medical simulators can produce problematical results as well. For example, the surgery on a simulator may be easier than in a real environment. This may cause trainees to harm the first patient [27]. Moreover, if the trainee is trained on the simulator without supervision, the simulator may develop bad habits or negatively train an element of the surgery that increases the patient's risk. To avoid such consequences, it is important to choose the right simulator type and fidelity [28].

In fact, the range of the simulators is wide. The following list shows the categories that currently exist. Based on different function, the simulator categories are part-task trainers, simulated environments, computer-based systems, integrated simulators, virtual reality and haptic system, precision placement, complex manipulation, simple manipulation, simulated patients etc. At this stage, low-fidelity simulators are still widely used, mainly because they are economical and easy-to-use for basic skills training [4].

Computer-based simulators can generate real-time interactions between medical instruments and user. They also contain realistic soft tissue models that are anatomically and physiologically accurate [29]. Thus, the users can fully immerse themselves in computer-generated images, haptic sensations and audio feedback. With computer-based simulators, the users can experience model deformation and penetration caused by surgical instruments in real time. Figure 1 is an example of a fully developed computer-based system [30]. Because of these benefits from computer-based simulators, the candidate's team is targeting to develop a computer-based system simulator that can replicate a novel spine surgery with high fidelity.



Figure 1 NeuroTouch simulator components: a) stereoscope/visual feedback, b) haptic systems, c) power supplies and amplifiers for haptic systems, d) high-performance computer

## 2.2 Soft Tissue Modelling

From the perspective of medical simulators, the training system should provide 1) realistic mechanical behavior and 2) allow trainees to interact with the system [31]. The modelling methodology of soft tissue can influence neurosurgery, plastic surgery, musculoskeletal surgery, heart surgery, abdominal surgery, minimally invasive surgery, etc. [32]. Therefore, in order to achieve the first requirement: realistic mechanical behavior, it is important to understand the mechanics of human soft tissue. In general, soft tissue exhibits very complicated properties such as non-linearity, viscoelasticity, anisotropy and incompressibility [33, 34, 35]. So, when the simulator enables deformation, cutting and needle insertion into soft tissue, huge amounts of data need to be processed. However, for the most advanced computers to date, it is still problematic to efficiently process this computational information in real-time. In 2005, Meier, Lopez, and Monserrat compared the mainstream methods, which revealed that the mass-spring model and finite element method are the best methods to imitate soft tissue behavior for medical simulators, but when considering speed, robustness, physiological reality, and topological flexibility, these two methods are not significantly better than one another [36]. At same time, they highlighted that perhaps future computational industry improvements could enable the volumetric-based mechanical methods to be faster than spring-mass models.

Right now, no matter which behavior the simulator replicates, realistic behavior and realtime capability are a trade-off, which means one aspect's improvement is based on the other's decline [31]. Therefore, many researchers leverage different optimizations methods to solve this problem. For the deformable model, it can be divided into following basic categories: the heuristic modeling methodology, continuum-mechanical methodology, and others.

### 2.2.1 Heuristic Modeling methodology

### a) Deformation:

Despite recent advances, the computational capability is not able to adequately produce real-time rendering for actual behavior of soft tissue. Therefore, multiple approaches are required to simplify the mechanical behavior. Examples are methods like geometrically based method, mass-spring model, chainmail algorithm and so on, to represent the deformation [31].

#### 2.2.1.1 Geometrically based method:

The geometrically based method, like free-form deformation, is excellent in terms of in computational speed. This approach is used to deform the soft tissue by adding a parametric parallelepip lattice and control points; such control points may then be manipulated in a free-form manner as shown in Figure 2. By moving the control points to desired place, a trivariate tensor product called the Bernstein polynomial will define the deformation [37].



Figure 2 Free-form model deformation: the left displays the undisplaced position of the object, and the right shows the control points in deformed position.

The geometrical model is fast in terms of response time; however the deformation is based on control points that cannot accurately represent mechanical behavior especially for the purpose of medical practice.

#### 2.2.1.2 Mass-spring model:

To avoid the defect of geometrically based method, mass-spring models are implemented into the calculation of soft-tissue deformation, see the Figure 3. This method is based on the principle of dynamics which calculates the deformation of soft tissue by using the mechanics of motion, in which each mass point, hence not continuous, is joined by spring forces that are connected to this point [38 – 41]. Therefore, by modifying the spring stiffness constants, use of penalty forces and compound mechanical dampers, mechanical properties like heterogeneity, incompressibility and time-dependence may be achieved [42 – 45]. But generally, a mass-spring system is still not accurate enough to represent the actual physical solution [40]. This is because the elastic springs heavily influence the deformation behavior of the model and may cause artificial anisotropy and heterogeneity [46]. At the same time, the internal forces produced by the position of the mass point do not fundamentally obey the constitutive laws governing the mechanical behavior of soft tissues [31]. Due to this mass-spring approach is reaching its limit of showing realistic behavior, it will be replaced by higher realistic mechanical properties with real-time computational efficiency [36]. Therefore, the mass-spring approach is considered limiting to this regard.



Figure 3 Mass-spring system: each circle contributes a mass point and links by structural springs which are controlled by stiffness.

The state of the mass-spring system is defined by the position  $x_i$  and velocity  $v_i$  of the mass point. The force  $f_i$  acting on the mass point has a linear relationship with the displacement, which generates between two mass points *i* and *j* 

$$f_{i} = k_{s}(|x_{ij}| - l_{ij})\frac{x_{ij}}{|x_{ij}|}$$
(1)

where  $x_{ij}$  is the distance between two mass points,  $k_s$  is the spring's stiffness and  $l_{ij}$  is the unstretched spring length. Then, the motion of entire mass model can be calculated by using Newton's second law

$$f(x,v) = M\ddot{x} \tag{2}$$

where *M* is a  $3N \times 3N$  diagonal mass matrix. After assigning the external force, the mass-spring system can predict the deformation of the model [40].

Overall, the heuristic modeling methodology sacrifices mechanical behavior compared with the continuum-mechanics methods. Also, the deformation result could be invalid if the boundary conditions and topology are changed in the simulator compared to those to which they were optimized for [31]. Thus, the continuum-mechanics will be introduced in the following paragraph to provide a better physical accuracy compare with heuristic modeling.

### 2.2.2 Continuum-Mechanical Methodology:

#### a) Deformation:

The continuum-mechanical methodology considers soft tissue following continuum mechanics of solid and constitutive laws to display the accurate mechanical behaviors like deformation [31]. Depending on whether or not this model utilizing the object mesh, this continuum-mechanical methodology has two categories: mesh-based approach (finite element

method (FEM), boundary element method (BEM)), and meshless approach (total Lagrangian explicit dynamics (MTLED), smoothed particle hydrodynamics (SPH)). This review will focus on the more popular FEM.

### 2.2.2.1 Finite element method (FEM):

In the FEM approach, the object mesh is divided into a finite number of element components, which in 2D are triangular or quadrilateral elements or in 3D are tetrahedral or hexahedral elements (see Figure 4 [47]). Each element uses constitutive laws that represent the mechanical behavior under the element domain, then the elements are assembled into the large scale matrix that determines the entire soft tissue model [40]. With this approach, the critical material properties of soft tissue, like Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio, can be integrated into the constitutive laws from experimental measurements. Therefore, this approach achieves high physical accuracy but at the same time produces massive computational complexity that causes problematic real-time interaction for the medical simulator [41]. For determining the results of state variables under deformation, there are two formulations which are updated Lagrangian formulation [48]. The total Lagrangian formulation is less computationally complex since all variables are referred to the initial system configuration. Contrarily, the updated Lagrangian formulation requires a recalculation of spatial derivatives because all variables are referred to the end of the previous time step [49].



Figure 4 FEM example: *left: Discretization of the domain into finite elements (2D illustration), right: the volumetric mesh consists with tetrahedral finite elements.* 

In order to achieve real-time interaction in the medical simulator, linear elasticity is most often considered for the mechanical properties of the soft tissue [46, 50 - 52]. Under this condition, the stress and strain follow the linear relationship:

$$\sigma = C\varepsilon \tag{3}$$

where C is the material property matrix, which is constant throughout the simulator. Then, the strain can be written as a formula that relates to the shape functions B and the displacements u

$$\varepsilon = Bu.$$
 (4)

Therefore, the strain energy  $W_{strian}$  of a soft tissue model is [50]

$$W_{strian} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \varepsilon^{T} \sigma \, dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} u^{T} B^{T} C B u \, dx \tag{5}$$

where  $\Omega$  is the spatial domain of the soft tissue model, consisting of points at position x with  $x \in \Omega$ . A number of finite elements  $W^{e}_{strain}$  consist the sum of the strain energy

13

$$W^{e}_{strain} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \varepsilon^{T} \sigma \, dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} u^{T} B^{T} C B u \, dx.$$
<sup>(6)</sup>

After applying an external force  $f^e$ , the equilibrium state will be achieved by minimizing the total potential energy. Thus, each element can be written as

$$\int_{\Omega} B^{eT} C B^e u^e \, dx = f^e. \tag{7}$$

This equation can be reduced into the following form because of the constants inside the integral sign

$$K^e u^e = f^e \tag{8}$$

where  $K^e$  is known as the stiffness matrix which is represented by

$$K^e = \int_{\Omega} B^{eT} C B^e \, dx = B^{eT} C B^e V^e \tag{9}$$

where  $V^e$  is the volume of one element. Then the overall soft-tissue model should contain the equation of the equilibrium state

$$Ku = f. (10)$$

The size of the stiffness matrix is  $3N \times 3N$ , *u* is the displacement matrix of size  $3N \times 1$ , and *f* is the global force matrix of size  $3N \times 1$ , where N is the number of mesh vertices (or nodes). But as mentioned above, the soft tissue expresses anisotropy, viscoelasticity and compressibility. For FEM, the anisotropic property is achieved by modifying the strain energy density function to produce the directional-dependent behavior [53]. For example, for a transversely isotropic material, the strain energy density  $W_{aniso}$  will be expressed as

$$W_{aniso} = W_{strain} (I_1, I_2, I_3, I_4, I_5)$$
(11)

where  $I_1$ ,  $I_2$ , and  $I_3$  are the three invariants of the right Cauchy-Green deformation tensor *C*;  $I_4$  and  $I_5$  are the two invariants from existing anisotropic directions. Then the viscoelasticity of the soft tissue is achieved by using a time-dependent strain energy function. This function is expressed by a convolution integral [53]:

$$\widehat{W}_{\text{strain}} = \int_{0}^{t} \alpha(t - t') \frac{\partial W_{\text{strain}}}{\partial t'} dt'.$$
<sup>(12)</sup>

The compressibility is solved in continuum-mechanical methodology by combining volumetric and isochoric strain energy functions [54].

### b) Cutting:

Besides the deformation, the finite element method currently contains the latest approach to model the cutting mechanism [55]. At beginning, the cutting behavior is expressed by using the element removal method, which was introduced in 1997 [50]. This method introduced collision detection to determine whether the surgical instrument is contacting the model and deletes the elements that are touched by the instrument. The element removal method is suitable for replicating the puncture effect but cannot accurately simulate the cutting behavior.

The element splitting method introduced by Bielser *et al.* improves the cutting effect [56, 57]. In this method, the tetrahedral elements of the volumetric mesh are split in two along the cutting path, and the flat, long and distorted tetrahedrons replicate the cutting scratches, which are usually irregular [58]. However, this is a complicated method with slow processing speed, which fails to achieve real-time interaction [55]. To avoid ill-shaped element cuts from the previously mentioned two methods, the element duplication method adds the extra elements in their original shapes. Although the duplication method is a good trade-off between accuracy and robustness, the snapping of vertices or element refinement, or a combination of both is required to accurately

represent the cuts. Snapping of vertices is a cutting mechanism that does not contain any subdivision. This procedure has three steps: 1. Identify the face that needs to be dissected and repositioned. 2. Reposition the nodes from the face so that they can follow the scalpel path. 3. Dissect the nodes along the scalpel path [59]. A 2D example is shown in Figure 5.





In 1999, Bielser et al. presented a method that refines the element locally along the cut to accurately represent cutting, which achieved a generated vertex on each edge, and a vertex on each triangle, see Figure 6 [60]. Steinemann et al. proposed a combination of snapping of vertices and element refinement to better replicate the cutting mechanism. If a vertex of an intersected edge is close to the cutting surface, the vertex will move onto the cutting surface. If the cutting surface intersects on an edge, the edge will split [61].



Figure 6 2D example of element refinement method: the red line is the cutting procedure and creates new vertices on the edges.

The following Figure 7 summarizes the current state-of-the-art in simulation of cuts in deformable soft tissue for the 2D cases [58].



Figure 7 Illustration of different methods for incorporating cuts into a tetrahedral mesh (a triangle mesh in 2D). The red cutting path separates the object into two disconnected parts, which are illustratively displaced to make the discontinuity visible. The surface of the object (bold black line) is given by the set of surface faces of the tetrahedral elements, except for the approach that is based on element duplication, where a separate surface mesh is maintained.

### 2.2.3 Summary

Overall, soft tissue manipulation is one of the most important tasks in medical simulation. The two most popular ways are mass-spring modeling and finite element modeling. When soft tissue undergoes small deformations, it can be simplified as linearly elastic and Hooke's law can be applied if one is using a mass-spring model [62 - 65]. Additionally, users have to choose a surface mesh for real-time interaction constrained by insufficient computer processing power, thereby avoiding the massive data produced by volume-based models. However, the mass-spring model is a heuristic approach which omits the constitutive behavior of the modeled tissue. Moreover, most biomechanical models should be treated as volume meshes due to the physical

behavior of soft tissue [66]. Therefore, finite element modeling, which is based on continuum mechanics, more accurately captures the behavior of the tissue. But a large amount of data brings new challenges to the simulator. The surgical simulator must not only consider its physical tolerances, but also its interactive speed. If real-time interaction cannot be guaranteed, the medical doctor cannot achieve the desired learning results when using the simulator. Therefore, maintaining real-time properties becomes a significantly important component of simulations. In this research, mass-spring and finite element methods are the two major solutions to represent soft tissue in medical simulators [67].

## 2.3 Frame Rate on Human Performance

In the medical simulator system described in this thesis, the user receives the visual feedback from two monitors. Each monitor has constant refresh rate that displays frames with fluctuanting rates. In computer graphics, frame rate is described as how many images, so called frames, that appear on a display per second. While the corresponding term refresh rate refers to the capability of a hardware to display the images for instance head-mounted display, monitor etc. [68]. In general, refresh rate is a hardware determined constant. On the contrary, the frame rate fluctuates greatly due to the complexity of the scene and computer capability. When the frame rate is less than refresh rate, a duplication method appears to stretch each frame to fit the refresh rate of the display. For example, when a 60 Hz display device only has a 4 Hz frame rate input, the individual frame will duplicate 15 times before any further changes [69]. However, this method could be problematic. When the frame rate and refresh rate are unsynchronized, a lag occurs. The lag is a temporal discrepancy between the data stream from the tracker (e.g., input device such as

a mouse or a haptic device) and the actual resulting graphic. Once the lag appears between user's action and rendering result, the user will feel distracted [70, 71]. Eventually, human performance in the visual environment will become degraded. On the other hand, a human requires at least 20Hz – known as the Critical fusion frequency to provide a reasonable contiguous-looking series of images. There are two vital components that affect the interactive frame rates: polygon numbers and viewpoints [72]. For example, a realistic-looking model contains more than millions of polygons, which usually exceeds the workstation's capability; in the viewpoint area, the visibility of different parts of the model will influence the frame rate as well [73].

Since changing the scenario details in a computing system will directly affect the frame rate, the frame rate is almost always irregular. Watson completed a study to examine the frame rate variation on virtual simulation. In that study, there is a range of frame rates will not significantly affect task performance in a virtual environment. However, there is much less tolerance in closed-loop tasks, which are defined as: the task receives feedback on the correctness of the movement and performs further movement to correct errors such as placement on a pedestal [70]. In addition, the background knowledge seems to have influence on the relationship between human performance and frame rate. The experienced subjects can maintain performance at lower frame rate than inexperienced subjects [74].

To understand how the number of nodes influences frame rate, it's important know the mathematical theory behind it. A tetrahedral volumetric mesh is used to represent the physical and geometrical body of a soft tissue. One tetrahedral element has four nodes with six edges that are generated by an interpolation shape function [75]. Also, as discussed previously in the soft tissue modelling, the greater the number of nodes there are, the more the stiffness matrix requires computational processing unit (CPU) to determine the geometrical shape of the model.

Of course, the accuracy of the geometry alone is not enough to trigger the surgeon into immersion in any arbitrary environment. The texture filling the gaps between the geometrical shape and reallife realism will help create the immersion by enhancing the surface appearance of the model into realistic looking images. In its definition, the texture means a "multidimensional image that is scanned into the system utilized for increasing the model's surface details" [76]. Usually, the texture is a 2D array that will be mapped onto a surface in the 3D model. This process is called as texture mapping. It is the process of using the texture coordinate (u, v) of the fragment to look up the material color of the texture image [77]. The texture coordinate u, v has a range from 0 to 1 in the horizontal and vertical directions that corresponds to a location in the texture image. The fragment is a tiny piece that is rasterized from the model to display the pixel color on the screen. The coordinates of each fragment are determined by interpolating the vertex coordinates, and the graphics card interpolates the texture coordinates. Each fragment contributes to one pixel on the screen.

To better understand the complexity of the simulator, the mathematical theory behind the mapping process is investigated. The fundamental graphics system is called the graphics pipeline. This simplified graphics pipeline describes each step of the rendering process from a 3D mathematical model to each frame that is displayed on the 2D screen (Figure 8). The texture data which stores the information of the texture will send information to the graphics card to compute the final color based on the incoming light and viewpoint.



Figure 8 Simplified rendering pipeline for computer graphics. *This process describes a 3D mesh rasterized into fragments. Each fragment combines with texture data will contribute into pixel of the monitor.* 

For a high-fidelity simulator, user's input passes through this pipeline and results appear from the simulator to the screen. The running speed of the pipeline becomes the crucial parameter that influences the experience. In the field of modern computer graphics, a shader can replace parts or entire functions of the pipeline.

In the case of our simulator, surgeons tend to practice the performance of the surgery on a muscle model, which will represent the accurate physical behavior like deformation and puncture. At the same time, real-time interactions maximize the learning transfer from the simulator to reality. Initially, the muscle model, constructed by millions of vertices, sends the vertex data into the CPU to determine the location of each vertex in the screen space. Then the (x, y, z) position in the object's local frame of reference is found; for example, it is (1.5, 80, 12). Then this position uses an orthographic projection to change the (x, y, z) position into a two-element vector (u, v). Now the values obtained are in the form of (0.5, 0.75). Thereafter, these texture coordinates are used to find the color at this location to form the texture image. Since the resolution of the muscle texture is, say, 256 × 256, the color of position (0.5, 0.75) is related to the pixel of position (128, 192) in the texture image. Therefore, the pixel (128, 192) is found in the texture image and has color, say, (0.8, 0.8, 0.7), and this color will display on the screen. See the following Figure 9 to better understand the process.



Figure 9 An example of rendering process: the computational calculation process of one pixel on the screen.

## 2.4 Simulator Fidelity

In order to describe a simulator, the term "fidelity" used all the time. In definition, the fidelity in modeling or simulation is *"The degree to which a model or simulation reproduces the state and behaviour of a real-world object or perception of a real-world object, feature, condition or standard in a measurable or perceivable manner"* [78]. But why is fidelity so important? This is because it represents the cost of the simulator and the potential learning transfer from training on the simulator, which various articles have investigated the relationship between fidelity and training effectiveness. From the perspective of cost, generally, increasing the fidelity of a simulator will lead to a cost increase [79]. In regard to the training effectiveness, Norman, Dore and Grierson [80] confirmed an improvement of simulator fidelity and performance than the no-intervention

group from a group of 24 different types of simulators. Also, high-fidelity simulators have improved student satisfaction and self-confidence [81]. Lasater verified this statement by testing nursing students with high-fidelity simulation during their training program, then comparing the results without using the high-fidelity simulator, which implied that the simulation can support developing clinical judgement [82]. But, the high fidelity has limits, in which Scerbo indicated that high-fidelity simulators may not always be equivalent to high performance but rather sometimes hinders the learning process [83]. Norman, Dore and Grierson had similar results that high fidelity simulators did not have significant optimization of learning that low fidelity simulators had [80]. But those experiment has bias, as Smink, Yule and Ashely agreed [84]. Although the high-fidelity simulator provided limited improvements in additional adjustments, this does not mean that simulation fidelity is not important. They clarified that simulators still required at least moderate fidelity to produce nontechnical skill learning [84]. However, simulators for high-risk surgery should maximize fidelity to replicate the procedure as closely as possible for training the required motor skills [27].

The low-fidelity simulators have a few studies working on its validation of educational purposes [2]. Kinney's study established that low fidelity simulation was an instant learning improvement tool but there was no significant enhancement in four months compared to the training method using only lectures. However, in the research by Ryan et al. they manifested the most efficient way of simulation-based education was the progressive method, which constructed a low to mid to high fidelity approach [85].

A study published by Hyun *et al.* [86] investigated the fidelity influence in laparoscopic surgical training, which is one of the major applications of minimally invasive surgery. In that study, the fidelity level is distinguished by whether it has force feedback, or the soft tissue model

undergoes linear or nonlinear mechanical behavior. The highest fidelity in their simulator is the nonlinear approximation model with accurate physical behavior; the medium fidelity contains the linear approximation model, and the lowest fidelity was a model without force feedback. Then they selected a series of performance matrices to evaluate their surgery performance: performance time  $\tilde{T}$ , push accuracy  $\tilde{P}$ , cut accuracy  $\tilde{C}$  and tool control  $\tilde{O}$ . Those components can be defined as a linear equation,

$$Performance = s_1 \tilde{T} + s_2 \tilde{P} + s_3 \tilde{C} + s_4 \tilde{O}$$
(13)

where  $s_1 - s_4$  are the weights, which defined by an expert laparoscopic surgeon in a successful surgery. Push accuracy and cut accuracy were given the highest weighting because these were tasks where tool coordination and depth perception was important. From their results, the haptic feedback is a crucial feature for improving the performance. Further, an effective simulator should provide both graphical and haptic feedback. However, the results also indicate that linear elasticity does not produce significant differences for these tasks compared with nonlinear elastic models.

A review article from Norman *et al.* identifies the minimal relationship between simulation fidelity and transfer of learning [80]. They conclude from 24 studies that the both high and low fidelity simulators improved the surgeon's performance, but the difference between those two are not significant. In one of the studies made by Matsumoto *et al.* [87], which educated the surgeon to practice ureteroscopic skills and stone extraction, the high-fidelity simulator contains a bench model which was made by Limbs and Things (Figure 10). In reverse, the low-fidelity simulator only consists of a coffee cup and plastic straw (Figure 10). Another example, Kinney denoted their definition of low fidelity was an anatomical model used for case studies [2]. Therefore, it is easy to conclude that every simulator considers its own interest in a measurable form, and the fidelity level does not have a clear dimensional definition for high or low [88].


Figure 10 A comparison between low and high-fidelity simulators: high fidelity simulator of ureteroscopy which contains the bench model with visual feedback (left). The low fidelity simulator contains a coffee cup and two straws to mimic simple tasks of the ureteroscopy (right).

From Seropian's work [89], simulation fidelity can be categorised into three levels: low, moderate, and high. The low fidelity simulation means frequent static imagery and is vaguely defined for the purposes of introduction and psychomotor practices. The moderate or so-called medium fidelity simulation has the characteristics of the existing low fidelity simulation but also adds additional sound features and more complex components. The high fidelity simulation should comprise both realism in appearance and interaction. However, in a comparison study by Brydges et al., the low fidelity simulation did not contain a physical bench model even though it has advanced haptic and communication cues [85]. The mid-fidelity simulation referred to an inanimate plastic arm (Nasco Health Care, Model LF01121U). This model did not provide the communication cues but included physical interaction. The high fidelity simulation comprised both physical model and cues; an example could be a SimMan simulator (Laedal Medical, Model 211-00050). Cant and Cooper generated a different explanation of the medium to high fidelity simulation required a realistic environment and interacted with actual medical equipment and supplies. In the high fidelity field,

Issenberg et al. assigned four categories in terms of functionality: realistic, three-dimensional procedural simulators, interactive simulators, and virtual reality simulators [1].

Although the method to measure fidelity is under debate, the fidelity can be categorised into three areas: physical, functional and psychological. As early as 1954, Miller announced this classification for the first time [90]. However, Maran considers that fidelity has two aspects: engineering and psychological. He said engineering fidelity was called physical, but functional was the same as psychological fidelity [14]. Another naming system is from Lathan et al, where in their article the psychological fidelity is called cognitive [91]. No matter how terminology is named, the physical or engineering fidelity is used to describe how the simulator looks like compared with reality. This means that this section covers all the external components, such as visual displays, controls, audio, and the physical model that drives each of these variables [92]. However, the psychological or cognitive fidelity is focusing on another perspective that describes the effects of the simulation on the trainee (i.e. communication, situation awareness) [3].

The psychological fidelity describes the degree that a user can engage psychologically and cognitively in the simulation [93]. For instance, in an aviation simulation, people are required to pay constant attention to avoid any risks, thus producing a demanding environment that resembles actual stress and workload [94]. The surgeon is also in a high-stress profession, where high stress could undermine performance [95]. Therefore, simulations with similar stress levels to the actual situation can transfer the training benefit for novel tasks [96]. Usually, the psychological fidelity can be improved by increasing the realism of clinical environment in the simulator: for instance, the time pressure, noise, and exposure to violent and distressing events were utilized in simulation [97, 98].

Physical fidelity can be decomposed into audiovisual fidelity, equipment fidelity and motion fidelity [99]. In 1982, Baum et al. completed a study that investigates the impact of both physical and functional fidelities in a training simulator. They found out in terms of simple mechanical adjustment tasks, physical fidelity had a significant effect on learning transfer, but had no major effect for function and the interaction between those two [100]. A similar result from Ilanit et al. shows that physical fidelity has a greater influence on training [13]. In this study, they set up their simulator to practice a procedural task. The training time was the measure used to evaluate trainee's performance. In summary, they demonstrated that the group exposed only to the virtual aspect of physical fidelity had a relatively similar time compared to the real-world training group. Moreover, it was shown that the group exposed only to the cognitive aspect of fidelity had significantly longer times than the previous two groups: the virtual aspect and real-world groups. For recent simulators, developing computer technology concentrates on achieving high physical fidelity in both visual and haptic rendering [101]. This means the high-fidelity simulators are extremely realistic and can provide a high level of interactivity and realism for the learner [102]. The benefits are obvious: shorter learning time and more learning transfer. But while the computer industry has achieved an unprecedented fidelity level, a high level of fidelity simulator may not always be cost-effective. As the realism increases, the extra computational load slows down the frame rate per second (FPS). Ideally, the minimum visual and haptic frame rates that do not affect the experience are 30 Hz and 1kHz, respectively [66, 103].

The results from the previous paragraph indicate that the role of physical and psychological fidelity in medical simulators is different. To practice simple skills, whether in a high or low fidelity simulator, the psychological fidelity affects the performance of surgeons more. However,

precise surgical skills require high physical fidelity to make the learning transfer from simulation to reality [1, 3, 104].

In conclusion, determining the degree of physical and psychological fidelity should consider technical feasibility, cost and training needs. Thus, an important compromise should be made among those features. In other words, it is important to design which feature should be more realistic than others. There is no simple taxonomy for the fidelity degree and does not necessarily follow the principle "more is better".

# **Chapter 3**

# 3. Article Manuscript

## 3.1 Rationale for Study

This project aims to create a realistic virtual environment for a high-fidelity medical simulator that can help surgeons to maximize their learning transfer. Mainly, this is accomplished by using a unique methodology to understand the relationship between the computational complexity and user experience under well-designed circumstances.

## 3.2 Study

# A comparative side-by-side cadaver and surgical simulator study exploring the balance between computational complexity and virtual graphics in a novel surgical spine simulator.

Tianqi Wang, Mark Driscoll\*

#### Authors:

Tianqi Wang, B. Eng., Masters Student

Mark Driscoll, P.Eng., Ph.D., Assistant Professor \*

Institutional Affiliation:

Department of Mechanical Engineering

McGill University

Macdonald Engineering Building

815 Sherbrooke St W, Montreal, Quebec H3A 2K7, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

#### Mark Driscoll

Mailing Address: Macdonald Engineering Building, RM 153, 817 Sherbrooke St W, Montreal,

Quebec H3A 2K7, Canada

Phone: 514-398-6299

Fax: 514-398-7365

Email Address: mark.driscoll@mcgill.ca

#### 3.2.1 Abstract:

#### Introduction

High-fidelity medical simulators are becoming widely leveraged in surgical education programs. They can maximize the transfer of learning from theory to reality. However, it is impossible to maintain high-fidelity without adding additional computing complexity. Therefore, the compromise between fidelity and computing in a medical simulator is essential. The purpose of this study was to identify the graphical requirements, in terms of number of nodes, to maintain a real-time high-fidelity simulation training platform (frame rate > 30 Hz).

#### Methods

After completing a minimally invasive spine surgery on cadavers, senior surgeons (n=9) repeated the same procedure on a developed simulation training platform containing visual, audible, and haptic feedback with 30Hz. The surgeons then immediately completed a questionnaire assessing the visual fidelity of the models and then contrasted this experience with the five other models of varying quality via image comparison. Then the simulator's frame rate or calculation speed was evaluated for each model and compared.

#### Results

Overall, 55% of surgeons responded that the two highest quality models best matched their experience compared to the cadaver. The remaining 45% considered the five models to be indistinguishable. The number of nodes and the frame rate revealed a positive linear correlation  $(r^2 = 0.925)$  and the number of nodes had impact on perception (p=0.02).

#### **Conclusions**

The model quality affects the fidelity by adding computational complexity as it may slow the refresh rate. Feedback marginally favouring of the higher number of nodes was observed, and future studies may serve to objectify this threshold.

#### 3.2.2 Introduction

Medical simulation, an innovative method in surgical education, aims to replace traditional training systems currently in use. The potential of this training system lies within its ability for residents to develop and refine surgical skills while eliminating ethical and cost issues associated with cadavers or animals [1]. In the field of medical simulation, high visual fidelity is becoming an essential target. In simulation, fidelity, "the degree to which a model or simulation reproduces that state and behaviour of a real-world object or perception of a real-world object, feature, condition or standard in a measurable or perceivable manner" [2], is often referred to qualitatively with most research groups failing to quantify high and low fidelity [3]. However, for the purpose of this study, high fidelity is defined as containing a concrete benchtop with some form of visual display and interactive haptic output [4-6]. Few studies discuss which parameters researchers should consider while developing the visual component of a virtual reality simulators. Often, these studies emphasize the importance of realism to trigger the same psychological and physical immersion as would be experienced in surgery. Although the criteria for sufficient fidelity in simulation for educational purposes is poorly defined, currently most researchers tend to pursue standards of high fidelity [7]. High-fidelity simulators can lead to student satisfaction, selfconfidence, and the ability to transfer the acquired skills to a surgical setting [6, 8].

To accurately represent soft-tissue in the medical simulation, surface and volumetric models are used to visualize the geometry of the tissues as based on the demand of computer efficiency or physical accuracy. To build geometrically-identical tissues, surface models are more advantageous due to the minimal number of nodes, but often lead to invalid physical deformations [9]. Moreover, considering the geometric deformations to tissues undergoing cutting and penetration process in the simulation, a volumetric model is more relevant for our high-fidelity simulation platform, due to physically its requirement for delivering precise data matrices and geometrically accurate representation. With the rapid development of the computational industry, increased computational power reduces the burden of calculation time of the volumetric model and optimizes the graphics for simulation display. In general, there are two ways to augment of the visual feedback in virtual reality: (1) adding complexity to the objects and (2) mapping textures on the surface of the objects. The first method adds nodes to the model for increased force feedback accuracy and realistic graphical representation of the topological changes under usual surgical manipulations (such as deformations, cutting, and penetration) [10]. Even though the extra polygons of the model improve the geometric and physical details, the complexity increases the computational time per frame or frame rate. When this frame rate per second (FPS) becomes less than 20 Hz, discontinuous and lagging graphic feedback affects the user experience, which is related to the rate at which the brain processes visual data [11]. However, real-time simulators aim to provide feedback at 30 Hz as a requirement during the design phase to match the required frame rate [7, 12].

Various simulation platforms simulate soft tissue models generated by the finite element method [13]. The generated volumetric model provides physical accuracy but may hinder the interaction in real time simulation. The ability to provide real-time interaction is important for the educational value of the simulation platform, effectively allowing for surgeons to efficiently practice the surgical procedure. This also affects the ability of the simulator to accurately evaluate operational performance [14]. Besides the graphical accuracy, the tissues' response (both visually and topographically) when undergoing loading input by the surgeon is also essential to the simulation.

Technological developments allow for faster calculation, but the visual realism and user experience may still be compromised [15]. It is also unclear how and which quality parameter should be modified when the computational cost exceeds the computing allowance. Therefore, the goal of this work is to determine the relationship between frame rate, number of nodes and visual feedback by comparing surgeons' feedback on a novel surgical simulator immediately after having performed an identical cadaver surgery.

#### 3.2.3 Methods

The surgical simulator under consideration is a physics-based simulator of a minimally invasive spine single level fusion. The geometry of the surgical scenes in the simulator are reconstructed from patient specific data. This medical simulation was run on a high-performance gaming laptop (i7-8750H) with Windows 10 operating system. The rendered images were displayed on two flat panel monitors to match the interface in the operating room: one built-in monitor and another external touch screen monitor which produced 120Hz and 60Hz refresh rate,



Figure 1 The platform set-up. Left is the laptop that runs the 120Hz display, the haptic device and benchtop model are in the middle, and right is the external touch-screen running the 60Hz display. The surgeon operates the haptic device based on the visual feedback from both monitors

respectively. Haptic feedback was provided from a six-degree freedom ENTACT W3D device (Figure 1).

In the simulator, an experiment was performed to access the volumetric models that reproduce the physical behaviour of physiological volumes (e.g. the behaviour of muscle). A total of six artificial muscle models were generated using a tetrahedral mesh with incremental element size starting from 3mm up to 8mm. Due to the frame rate requirement, the mesh model containing the element size that produces the 30Hz was embedded into the training platform to provide complete visual and haptic feedback for the participants.

Next, a texturing technique using diffuse and normal mapping methods was added to the muscle models to maximize the realism for participants. To examine the visual feedback associated with actual surgery experience, internal and external textures were chosen because they are major visual components during the simulated minimally invasive surgery which uses an endoscopic viewpoint. The external texture reflected the superficial area of the muscle that produce the specular effect of biological fluid during surgery. The internal muscle texture represented the deep muscle tissue under cutting and penetration. These texturing treatments were based on videos and images collected during cadaver experiments and were implemented using the industrial graphical painting software *Autodesk Maya* (2019, San Rafael, United States) and *Substance Painting* (2019.3.1, San Jose, United States). Therefore, the applied texture provided the fidelity required to maintain an immersive experience while using the medical simulator. To determine whether the texturing treatments (diffuse and normal mapping) affected the computational complexity, each model was run through an additional trial to compare the frame rates. As shown in Figure 2, the solid colour replaces the diffuse and normal maps, and the other functions such as collision detection and deformation remain the same.



Figure 2 The example of solid colour treatment: left is solid colour treatment and the right is full texture treatment.

Images were used to compare the visual fidelity of different computational complexities; those images were recorded visual feedback for other generated muscle models that under the same operation. Since the mesh should be deformed and penetrated by the instrument, the leftover cross-sectional area of the mesh was selected as visual feedback to compare the influence of number of nodes. Following collision detection between the instrument and tetrahedral mesh, the contacted element would be removed, leaving the rest of the mesh to express the real penetration in the platform. Images of these mesh were used in a questionnaire for surgeons to evaluate the visual feedback. Nine senior surgeons participated in the questionnaire. They completed a minimally invasive spine surgery on a cadaver, then immediately repeated the identical procedure on the surgical trainer/simulator. The surgeons then completed a questionnaire comparing these models in terms of visual satisfaction contrasted with the cadaver surgery (questionnaire in Appendix A). This questionnaire contained a point scale from 0 to 5, representing "not applicate, very poor, poor, moderate, good, excellent," respectively. The questions were:

- 1. How do you rate your overall impression of the visual graphics compared to real surgery?
- 2. How close is the internal impression of the model in the demo to reality?
- 3. How close is the external impression of the model in the demo to reality?

#### 4. Which image is best suitable for your experience?

To complete any required statistical analysis, as in the case of Question 4, the score of each image is ranked from 5 to 1 based upon the number of nodes used (large to small). Should the participants determine image to be equal in quality, a score of 3 was allocated. The null hypothesis of the number of nodes has no impact on visual feedback was evaluated by processing the data and leveraging the one sample sign test statistical method. A p value of less than 0.05 was deemed to provide statistical significance.

#### 3.2.4 Results

1. The relationship between number of nodes and FPS. Although the element size is the fundamental parameter to determine the model shape, it is impossible to define a uniform element size for each face. Therefore, the number of nodes provides a better representation for the computational complexity of the model. A quadratic function relating the average element size and number of nodes was found  $NON = 3170.9S^2 - 45458S + 245385$  with  $r^2 = 0.9828$  where *NON* and *S* mean number of nodes and element size (Figure 3). The frame rate corresponding to each number of nodes were collected during the simulated operation (Table 1). To account for the time the surgeon spends on the simulator's module, every muscle mode is run through the simulation for five minutes to collect the average frame rate. The frame rate remained stable with little change during the simulated operation. Based on the frame rate results a positive and linear correlation was found with respect to the number of nodes FPS = -0.0004NON + 77.952 with  $r^2 = 0.925$ , where *NON* means number of nodes (Figure 4). In terms of frame rate, the smallest two element size models were below the 30 Hz range, which is the minimum requirement to prevent losing real-time interaction [7, 12].



Figure 3 Recording of the relationship between average element size and number of nodes.

Table 1 Model performance in the simulation platform.

Element Size (mm)	Number of Nodes	FPS(Average)	FPS (Solid Colour)
3	139788	21	30
4	111744	28	40
4.5	102216	31	41
5	97896	37	42
6	90426	42	53
8	83622	43	58



Figure 4 Comparison of average frame rate between different surface treatment with different number of nodes

2. The effects of surface treatment on computational complexity. After replacing the texture produced using diffuse and normal mapping, with a solid colour on the models, an improved and linear frame rate was observed for all sized meshes (Figure 4). As a result, it is concluded that surface treatment accounts for universal delays due to computational complexity. The relationship in Figure 3 allows an estimation to be determined for the added computational complexity by the textures.

Participant	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
1	5	3	3	Same/3
2	4	3	4	Same/3
3	4	3	4	No.2/4
4	4	3	5	Same/3
5	4	4	3	No.1/2/4.5
6	4	3	4	No.2/4
7	4	3	3	No.1/5
8	3	4	3	No.1/5
9	3	3	4	Same/3
Mean	3.89	3.22	3.67	3.83

Table 2 Visual feedback questionnaire.

3. Evaluation of the visual feedback by senior surgeons. To summarize the results from the questionnaire, the mean score for overall impression (Question 1) was  $3.89 \pm 0.6$  (range: 3-5), a score which represented a good satisfaction with the overall visual graphics. Both internal and external models were considered over moderate satisfaction as well, but the trends support the external expressions were scored slightly better than the internal expressions (Table 2). The mean score for internal impression was  $3.22 \pm 0.44$  (range: 3-4), and for external impression was  $3.67 \pm 0.71$  (range: 3-5). For question 4, best suitable image for user's experience, five of the surgeon participants reported that either the first or the second smallest element sizes best suited their experience in the operating room compared to the cadaver trial they had just completed. The

remaining four participants indicated no difference among the five element size models. Therefore, the data supports the use of a high number of nodes to enhance the details on the muscle model during regular surgical manipulations (p=0.025).

#### 3.2.5 Discussion

Based on the present study, with respect to fidelity, the number of nodes provided important information. It visually affects the level of realism in displaying the cross-sectional area after surgical tool penetration. Also, from the simulation point of view, the larger the number of nodes there is, the more accurate the physical behaviour would be [16]. Due to the nature of this simulation platform, the surgeon would spend significantly more time looking at and working with the internal texture. Thus, the internal texture including the cross-section area have a greater impact on visual feedback than the external effects. A high number of nodes reflects a more representative visual appearance, but at the same time this property decreases the response time of the computer. Both of the smallest element sizes failed to produce 30 Hz frame rate, which is required for real-time manipulations [12]. Similarly, in a real-time game engine, adding higher mesh resolution enhances the apparent geometric detail of fracture [17].

When comparing each model's mesh performance with respect to the texture treatment, an unusual frame rate drop was observed after the number of nodes was increased past 97,896, an average of 5 Hz decrease was observed. Further investigation needs to be performed to understand how textures influence computational complexity.

After comparing the surgeons' satisfaction for the images provided in the questionnaire, the best model appears to be the one with the largest number of nodes, which means this larger number produces a more realistic muscle cross section. However, even if this platform runs on one of the most advanced computers at the time of the experiment, it is still difficult to produce a realistic representation of the surgical area without sacrificing the interactive experience. Since the simulation should maximize transference of surgical skills, which needs a high degree of realism and fidelity, an interactive simulation platform without real-time feedback is not feasible [18]. Although researchers continue to debate on the importance of fidelity for a surgical simulation towards transference of learning, high-fidelity simulation provides more confidence in the simulation experience for the surgeons [19]. For the satisfaction of the visual feedback, most participants still indicate the smallest element size is most suitable for the realistic experience. This result proves that the training simulator platform still needs an accurate visual mesh to model the surgery, especially the cross-section, which is influenced mainly by internal texture and number of nodes. For a volumetric model, more nodes can improve the smoothness of the tissue during cutting surface and prevent sharp edges associated with the significantly higher element size [20]. The mesh size could potentially increase the accuracy of haptic fidelity, which is associated with the contact information collected from the models [21]. However, the difference is small: 44% of the participants accepted the mesh with the lower number of nodes with no a significant difference between models. Since the frame rate linearly correlates to the number of nodes, an estimate can be determined for any given number of nodes. After considering both the frame rate and visual feedback results, a balance is required where the model with a larger number of nodes is rated best for producing realistic visual feedback and real-time interaction. In the future, by matching the minimum frame rate requirement, it is possible to produce desired realism in the visual feedback using this relationship. Similar studies, such as Ullrich's work, demonstrated the same linear relationship between number of nodes and computational time per frame [22].

Two limitations appeared during the experiment. First, the sample size of the questionnaire is fairly small comparing with ideal sample size (n>30). Nevertheless, participants in the questionnaire were senior surgeons with broad experience in an operating room therefore providing the required insight. Given the unique set-up of this experiment, using an immediate comparison to a cadaver surgery provides the author's confidence in the reported results. However, the methodology of this experiment aims to add to a quantifiable value for fidelity, which may be utilized by researchers to validate the visual framework of future surgical simulators. The second limitation is that the participants were unable to use the simulator with the different models and frame rates due to time constraints. While similar studies examined the effect of frame rates, it would still be valuable to test with senior surgeons in the context of this study and its parameters.

Because no standard has been established for determining fidelity, describing fidelity in the context of a surgical simulator is still based on physical and psychological perception [6]. However, it is often vague and differently defined based on the trainer's needs. For example, the simulation platform in this study is considered to have high fidelity because it contains virtual environment (computer display), haptic feedback, and benchtop model for interaction. Therefore, it is feasible to consider adding the frame rate or the capability of frame rate productions to quantifying the fidelity of the simulator. On one hand, frame rate is a critical parameter, which heavily influences the cost of a training platform and enhances the immersion to connect the virtual and real-life experience. On the other hand, it is a quantifiable parameter providing a method determine whether this platform meets the needs of the surgical method like head-mounted display or continuously accurate haptic output [23].

#### 3.2.6 Conclusion

In summary, the relationship between model complexity and simulation frame rate time were examined in this study. Nine senior surgeons provided an opinion based on experience compared with the procedure on a cadaver within a short period of time. This unique methodology produced a final compromise when graphical requirement exceeded the computational budget. A new approach to determine simulation fidelity is suggested in this study. Future work will focus on implementing a dynamic platform that allows various number of nodes to be modelled in a desired region to maximize visual performance with a given computational power while investing in optimization.

## 3.2.7 Appendix A



#### Reference

- A. Frisoli *et al.*, "Simulation of real-time deformable soft tissues for computer assisted surgery," vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 107–113, 2004.
- [2] M. Roza, J. Voogd, ... H. J.-F. S., and undefined 1999, "Fidelity requirements specification: A process oriented view," *pdfs.semanticscholar.org*.
- [3] R. Hays and M. Singer, *Simulation fidelity in training system design: Bridging the gap between reality and training.* 2012.
- [4] M. A. Seropian, K. Brown, J. S. Gavilanes, and B. Driggers, "Simulation: not just a manikin.," *J. Nurs. Educ.*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 164–9, Apr. 2004.
- [5] R. P. Cant and S. J. Cooper, "Simulation-based learning in nurse education: systematic review," J. Adv. Nurs., vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 3–15, Jan. 2010.
- S. Barry Issenberg, W. C. Mcgaghie, E. R. Petrusa, D. Lee Gordon, and R. J. Scalese,
  "Features and uses of high-fidelity medical simulations that lead to effective learning: a
  BEME systematic review," *Med. Teach.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 10–28, Jan. 2005.
- [7] N. J. Maran and R. J. Glavin, "Low- to high-fidelity simulation a continuum of medical education?," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 37, no. s1, pp. 22–28, Nov. 2003.
- [8] Z. Samawi, T. Miller, and M. S. Haras, "Using High-Fidelity Simulation and Concept Mapping to Cultivate Self-Confidence in Nursing Students," *Nurs. Educ. Perspect.*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 408–409, Nov. 2014.
- [9] H. Delingette, "Toward realistic soft-tissue modeling in medical simulation," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 512–523, Mar. 1998.
- [10] H. Zhang, S. Payandeh, and J. Dill, "Simulation of progressive cutting on surface mesh model," *Citeseer*.
- [11] J. Chen, J. T.-I. T. on Systems, undefined Man, undefined and, and undefined 2007,"Review of low frame rate effects on human performance," *academia.edu*.
- [12] A. Liu, G. Tharp, L. French, ... S. L.-I. T. on, and undefined 1993, "Some of what one needs to know about using head-mounted displays to improve teleoperator performance,"

ieeexplore.ieee.org.

- [13] Morten Bro-Nielsen, "Finite Element Modeling in Surgery Simulation," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 86, pp. 490–503, 1998.
- [14] L. R. Huesmann, S. K. Card, T. P. Moran, and A. Newell, "The Psychology of Human-Computer Interaction," *Am. J. Psychol.*, vol. 97, no. 4, p. 625, 1984.
- [15] F. P. Brooks, "Walkthrough-A Dynamic Graphics System for Simulating Virtual Buildings."
- [16] C. Basdogan, S. De, J. Kim, M. Muniyandi, H. Kim, and M. A. Srinivasan, "Haptics in minimally invasive surgical simulation and training," *IEEE Comput. Graph. Appl.*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 56–64, Mar. 2004.
- [17] E. G. Parker and J. F. O'Brien, "Real-time deformation and fracture in a game environment," in *Computer Animation, Conference Proceedings*, 2009, pp. 165–175.
- [18] T. R. Kirkman, "High fidelity simulation effectiveness in nursing students' transfer of learning," *Int. J. Nurs. Educ. Scholarsh.*, vol. 10, 2013.
- [19] G. Norman, K. Dore, and L. Grierson, "The minimal relationship between simulation fidelity and transfer of learning," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 636–647, Jul. 2012.
- [20] D. Bielser, V. A. Maiwald, and M. H. Gross, "Interactive Cuts through 3-Dimensional Soft Tissue," *Comput. Graph. Forum*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 31–38, Sep. 1999.
- [21] D. Bielser and M. H. Gross, "Interactive simulation of surgical cuts," in *Proceedings -Pacific Conference on Computer Graphics and Applications*, 2000, vol. 2000-January.
- [22] R. Blach, S. Coquillart, M. D'cruz, A. Steed, and G. Welch, "Bimanual Haptic Simulator for Medical Training: System Architecture and Performance Measurements," 2011.
- [23] C. J. Luciano, P. P. Banerjee, and S. H. R. Rizzi, "GPU-based elastic-object deformation for enhancement of existing haptic applications," in *Proceedings of the 3rd IEEE International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering, IEEE CASE 2007*, 2007, pp. 146–151.

# 4. Additional Materials

## 4.1 Summary

To maximize the visual immersion of a high-fidelity medical simulator, this thesis produced two ways to achieve this goal: the exact geometry of the real patient and realism texture. The accurate geometry can serve as a beacon, which helps surgeons tracking where the locations of their surgery tools. From this perspective the model includes skin, vertebral column, rib, femur, hipbone and sacrum (Figure 11).



Figure 11 Model meshes displayed in intraoperative camera: *it guides surgeons during their experience of the medical simulator. The model mesh contains accurate geometrical shape of human skin, vertebral column, rib, femur, hipbone and sacrum.* 

The texture method is aiming to produce the realism experience for surgeons in the simulator. Thus, the target is replicate the user experience by using the computer graphics. To achieve this goal, the author captured multiple images from cadaver experience and real surgery (Figure 12). Thus, based on the reference picture, the first prototype of the muscle texture is showing in Figure 13. However, as suggested by the surgeons, the first prototype is failing to present the ligament and body fluid of the real muscle model, which are important features for immersion. Thus, the second prototype matches those requirements. Besides the regular diffuse texture that represents the color, the normal map creates the irregular surface and replicates the effects of body fluid. The results are showing in Figure 14, which was highly satisfactory with nine senior surgeons.



Figure 12 The reference images to create realism for feedback. *The left image is captured from the cadaver experience and the right one is from the real surgery that displaying the cross-section area of the inside muscle tissue* 



Figure 13 The first prototype of the muscle model: *it only replicates the muscle color and muscle layers*.



Figure 14 Optimized visual texture: it replicates the color of the muscle and ligament on the left. And on the right displayed the internal muscle texture and specular effects from body fluid.

The thesis describes the relationship between computational complexity and visual graphics. The number of nodes has impact on the visual feedback with p = 0.025. But the impact

does not significant influence the visual feedback based on previous results from the surgical questionnaire.

In conclusion, this unique methodology provides evidence of the final compromise when graphics needs exceed the computational budget. And those results provide evidence on how to enhance the visual experience of high-fidelity simulators.

### 4.2 Future Direction

As mentioned in the methodology, the study involved nine senior surgeon participants. Despite their extensive experience with evaluation simulators, the number of surgeons was still insufficient to represent the entire surgery and residential community. In the future, it will become more valuable to collect more data from a larger sample size from multiple institutions to evaluate the graphics requirement of this medical simulator.

Moreover, this study is focusing on the external and internal textures created by the existing computer graphical technologies like diffuse mapping and normal mapping. Indeed, those techniques represent the visual feedback in a stabilized way, which means the texture will not change over time. Therefore, to optimize the texture in the future, dynamic visual feedback can take into consideration, which further improves the visual fidelity, but requires a computer with a higher calculation speed.

The graphics developed in this simulator need further development for wider applications. Although there is still controversy in the field of fidelity, a certain degree of fidelity is still important for end users. Future extensions of this project can focus on to investigations of how much graphics fidelity end users require. A system with different levels of fidelity can help the surgeons perform controlled experiments and summarize their performance based on welldesigned indicators to determine the minimal graphics fidelity before performance degradation.

# References

- S. Barry Issenberg, W. C. Mcgaghie, E. R. Petrusa, D. Lee Gordon, and R. J. Scalese,
  "Features and uses of high-fidelity medical simulations that lead to effective learning: a
  BEME systematic review," *Med. Teach.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 10–28, Jan. 2005, doi:
  10.1080/01421590500046924.
- [2] S. Kinney, D. H.-C. S. in Nursing, and undefined 2008, "Comparison of low fidelity simulation learning strategy with traditional lecture," *Elsevier*.
- [3] A. L. Alexander, T. T. Brunyé, J. Sidman, and S. A. Weil, "From Gaming to Training : A Review of Studies on Fidelity, Immersion, Presence, and Buy-in and Their Effects on Transfer in PC-Based Simulations and Games," *Group*, no. November, pp. 1–14, 2005.
- P. Bradley, "The history of simulation in medical education and possible future directions," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 254–262, Mar. 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02394.x.
- [5] G. Székely, C. Brechbühler, R. Hutter, A. Rhomberg, N. Ironmonger, and P. Schmid,
  "Modelling of soft tissue deformation for laparoscopic surgery simulation," *Med. Image Anal.*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 57–66, Mar. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S1361-8415(00)00002-5.
- [6] A. Frisoli *et al.*, "Simulation of real-time deformable soft tissues for computer assisted surgery," vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 107–113, 2004, doi: 10.1581/mrcas.2004.010107.
- [7] K. R. Rosen, "The history of medical simulation," *J. Crit. Care*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 157–166, Jun. 2008, doi: 10.1016/J.JCRC.2007.12.004.

- [8] R. P. Cant and S. J. Cooper, "Simulation-based learning in nurse education: systematic review," J. Adv. Nurs., vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 3–15, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05240.x.
- [9] "Link Trainer Restoration." [Online]. Available: http://www.starksravings.com/linktrainer/linktrainer.htm. [Accessed: 05-Sep-2019].
- [10] "The National Advanced Driving Simulator The NADS-1." [Online]. Available: http://www.nads-sc.uiowa.edu/sim\_nads1.php. [Accessed: 05-Sep-2019].
- [11] S. Endosc and R. M. Satava, "Surgical Endoscopy Virtual reality surgical simulator The first steps," 1993.
- [12] J. L. Cameron, "William Stewart Halsted. Our surgical heritage.," *Ann. Surg.*, vol. 225, no. 5, pp. 445–58, May 1997, doi: 10.1097/00000658-199705000-00002.
- [13] I. Hochmitz and N. Yuviler-Gavish, "Physical Fidelity Versus Cognitive Fidelity Training in Procedural Skills Acquisition," *Hum. Factors J. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc.*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 489–501, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1177/0018720811412777.
- [14] N. J. Maran and R. J. Glavin, "Low- to high-fidelity simulation a continuum of medical education?," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 37, no. s1, pp. 22–28, Nov. 2003, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2923.37.s1.9.x.
- W. C. McGaghie, S. B. Issenberg, E. R. Petrusa, and R. J. Scalese, "A critical review of simulation-based medical education research: 2003 2009," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 50–63, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2009.03547.x.

- [16] C. Loukas, N. Nikiteas, M. Kanakis, and E. Georgiou, "Evaluating the Effectiveness of Virtual Reality Simulation Training in Intravenous Cannulation," *Simul. Healthc. J. Soc. Simul. Healthc.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 213–217, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1097/SIH.0b013e31821d08a9.
- [17] V. Datta, S. Mackay, M. Mandalia, and A. Darzi, "The use of electromagnetic motion tracking analysis to objectively measure open surgical skill in the laboratory-based model.," *J. Am. Coll. Surg.*, vol. 193, no. 5, pp. 479–85, Nov. 2001, doi: 10.1016/s1072-7515(01)01041-9.
- [18] D. Murray, J. Boulet, ... M. A.-...: T. J. of, and undefined 2007, "Performance of residents and anesthesiologists in a simulation-based skill assessment," *anesthesiology.pubs.asahq.org.*
- [19] D. B. Wayne *et al.*, "Simulation-Based Training of Internal Medicine Residents in Advanced Cardiac Life Support Protocols: A Randomized Trial," *Teach. Learn. Med.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 202–208, Jul. 2005, doi: 10.1207/s15328015tlm1703\_3.
- [20] D. B. Wayne *et al.*, "Mastery learning of advanced cardiac life support skills by internal medicine residents using simulation technology and deliberate practice," *J. Gen. Intern. Med.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 251–256, Mar. 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00341.x.
- [21] S. Abrahamson, J. Denson, R. W.-A. Medicine, and undefined 1969, "Effectiveness of a simulator in training anesthesiology residents," *journals.lww.com*.
- [22] J. van der Meij and T. de Jong, "Supporting students' learning with multiple representations in a dynamic simulation-based learning environment," *Learn. Instr.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 199–212, Jun. 2006, doi: 10.1016/J.LEARNINSTRUC.2006.03.007.

- [23] M. T. Gettman *et al.*, "Use of High Fidelity Operating Room Simulation to Assess and Teach Communication, Teamwork and Laparoscopic Skills: Initial Experience," *J. Urol.*, vol. 181, no. 3, pp. 1289–1296, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.JURO.2008.11.018.
- [24] F. Jones, ... C. P.-N.-P. and practice of, and undefined 2015, "Simulation in Medical Education: Brief history and methodology," *journal.ppcr.org*.
- [25] R. L. Kneebone, W. Scott, A. Darzi, and M. Horrocks, "Simulation and clinical practice: strengthening the relationship," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1095–1102, Oct. 2004, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.01959.x.
- [26] A. Ziv, S. Ben-David, and M. Ziv, "Simulation Based Medical Education: an opportunity to learn from errors," *Med. Teach.*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 193–199, May 2005, doi: 10.1080/01421590500126718.
- [27] A. G. Gallagher and G. C. O'Sullivan, *Fundamentals of Surgical Simulation: Principles and Practice*. 2012.
- [28] R. Lewis, A. Strachan, M. S.-T. open nursing journal, and undefined 2012, "Is high fidelity simulation the most effective method for the development of non-technical skills in nursing? A review of the current evidence," *ncbi.nlm.nih.gov.*
- [29] S. Misra, K. T. Ramesh, and A. M. Okamura, "Modeling of tool-tissue interactions for computer-based surgical simulation: A literature review," *Presence Teleoperators Virtual Environ.*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 463–491, 2008, doi: 10.1162/pres.17.5.463.
- [30] S. Delorme, D. Laroche, ... R. D.-O., and undefined 2012, "NeuroTouch: a physics-based virtual simulator for cranial microneurosurgery training," *academic.oup.com*.

- [31] J. Zhang, Y. Zhong, and C. Gu, "Deformable Models for Surgical Simulation: A Survey," *IEEE Reviews in Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 11. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, pp. 143–164, 13-Nov-2018, doi: 10.1109/RBME.2017.2773521.
- [32] I. Paper, "Toward Realistic Soft-Tissue Modeling in Medical Simulation," vol. 86, no. 3, 1998.
- [33] R. Martin, D. Burr, N. Sharkey, and D. Fyhrie, *Skeletal tissue mechanics*. 1998.
- [34] Y.C. Fung, Biomechanics: Motion, Flow, Stress, and Growth. New York: Springer, 1990.
- [35] F.H. Silver, "Biological materials: Structure, mechanical properties and modeling of soft tissues," pp. 91–195, 1987.
- [36] U. Meier, O. López, C. Monserrat, M. C. Juan, and M. Alcañiz, "Real-time deformable models for surgery simulation: a survey," *Comput. Methods Programs Biomed.*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 183–197, Mar. 2005, doi: 10.1016/J.CMPB.2004.11.002.
- [37] T. W. Sederberg and S. R. Parry, "Free-form deformation of solid geometric models," in Proceedings of the 13th Annual Conference on Computer Graphics and Interactive Techniques, SIGGRAPH 1986, 1986, pp. 151–160, doi: 10.1145/15922.15903.
- [38] Y. Duan, W. Huang, H. Chang, ... W. C.-I. journal of, and undefined 2014, "Volume preserved mass-spring model with novel constraints for soft tissue deformation," *ieeexplore.ieee.org.*
- [39] P. E. Hammer, M. S. Sacks, P. J. Del Nido, and R. D. Howe, "Mass-spring model for simulation of heart valve tissue mechanical behavior," *Ann. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1668–1679, Jun. 2011, doi: 10.1007/s10439-011-0278-5.

- [40] A. Nealen, M. Müller, R. Keiser, E. Boxerman, and M. Carlson, "Physically based deformable models in computer graphics," in *Computer Graphics Forum*, 2006, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 809–836, doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8659.2006.01000.x.
- [41] S. F. F. Gibson and B. Mirtich, "A Survey of Deformable Modeling in Computer Graphics," 1997.
- [42] G. San-Vicente, ... I. A.-I. T. on, and undefined 2011, "Cubical mass-spring model design based on a tensile deformation test and nonlinear material model," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*.
- [43] B. Lloyd, G. Székely, M. H.-I. T. on, and undefined 2007, "Identification of spring parameters for deformable object simulation," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*.
- [44] G. Picinbono, H. Delingette, N. A.-G. models, and undefined 2003, "Non-linear anisotropic elasticity for real-time surgery simulation," *Elsevier*.
- [45] K. Choi, H. Sun, P. H.-A. intelligence in medicine, and undefined 2004, "An efficient and scalable deformable model for virtual reality-based medical applications," *Elsevier*.
- [46] S. De, J. Kim, Y. Lim, M. S.-C. & structures, and undefined 2005, "The point collocation-based method of finite spheres (PCMFS) for real time surgery simulation," *Elsevier*.
- [47] J. Altenbach, "Zienkiewicz, O. C., The Finite Element Method. 3. Edition. London.
  McGraw-Hill Book Company (UK) Limited. 1977. XV, 787 S.," ZAMM Zeitschrift für Angew. Math. und Mech., vol. 60, no. 8, pp. 345–346, Jan. 1980, doi: 10.1002/zamm.19800600811.

- [48] K. Miller *et al.*, "Modelling brain deformations for computer-integrated neurosurgery," *Int. j. numer. method. biomed. eng.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 117–138, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1002/cnm.1260.
- [49] G. R. Joldes, A. Wittek, and K. Miller, "Suite of finite element algorithms for accurate computation of soft tissue deformation for surgical simulation," *Med. Image Anal.*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 912–919, Dec. 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.media.2008.12.001.
- [50] Morten Bro-Nielsen, "Finite Element Modeling in Surgery Simulation," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 86, pp. 490–503, 1998.
- [51] M. Bro-Nielsen and S. Cotin, "Real-time volumetric deformable models for surgery simulation using finite elements and condensation," *Comput. Graph. Forum*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 57–66, 1996, doi: 10.1111/1467-8659.1530057.
- [52] C. Monserrat, U. Meier, M. Alcaniz, ... F. C.-C. M. and, and undefined 2001, "A new approach for the real-time simulation of tissue deformations in surgery simulation," *Elsevier*.
- [53] Z. Taylor, O. Comas, M. Cheng, ... J. P.-M. image, and undefined 2009, "On modelling of anisotropic viscoelasticity for soft tissue simulation: Numerical solution and GPU execution," *Elsevier*.
- [54] S. F. Johnsen *et al.*, "NiftySim: A GPU-based nonlinear finite element package for simulation of soft tissue biomechanics," *Int. J. Comput. Assist. Radiol. Surg.*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 1077–1095, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1007/s11548-014-1118-5.
- [55] Q. Cheng, P. Liu, P. Lai, Y. Zou, ... C. L.-... J. R. and, and undefined 2017, "Modelling of soft tissue cutting in virtual surgery simulation: a literature review," *actapress.com*.
- [56] D. Bielser and M. H. Gross, "Interactive simulation of surgical cuts," in *Proceedings -Pacific Conference on Computer Graphics and Applications*, 2000, vol. 2000-January, doi: 10.1109/PCCGA.2000.883933.
- [57] D. Bielser, P. Glardon, M. Teschner, and M. Gross, "A state machine for real-time cutting of tetrahedral meshes," *Graph. Models*, vol. 66, pp. 398–417, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.gmod.2004.05.009.
- [58] J. Wu, R. Westermann, and C. Dick, "Physically-based Simulation of Cuts in Deformable Bodies: A Survey <sup>†</sup>."
- [59] H. W. Nienhuys and A. F. van der Stappe, "A surgery simulation supporting cuts and finite element deformation," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 2001, vol. 2208, pp. 145–152, doi: 10.1007/3-540-45468-3\_18.
- [60] D. Bielser, V. A. Maiwald, and M. H. Gross, "Interactive Cuts through 3-Dimensional Soft Tissue," *Comput. Graph. Forum*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 31–38, Sep. 1999, doi: 10.1111/1467-8659.00325.
- [61] D. Steinemann, M. Harders, ... M. G.-I. V. R., and undefined 2006, "Hybrid cutting of deformable solids," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*.
- [62] Y.C. Fung, *Biomechanics: Mechanical Properties of Living Tissues.*, 2nd edn. Berlin: Springer, 1993.

- [63] Walter Maurel Yin Wu, Biomechanical Models for Soft Tissue Simulation. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1991.
- [64] H. Delingette, S. Cotin, and N. Ayache, "A hybrid elastic model allowing real-time cutting, deformations and force-feedback for surgery training and simulation," in *Proceedings Computer Animation 1999*, pp. 70–81, doi: 10.1109/CA.1999.781200.
- [65] E. Keeve, S. Girod, and B. Girod, "Craniofacial surgery simulation," Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1996, pp. 541–546.
- [66] H. Delingette, "Toward realistic soft-tissue modeling in medical simulation," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 512–523, Mar. 1998, doi: 10.1109/5.662876.
- [67] Kup-Sze Choi, Hanqiu Sun, and Pheng-Ann Heng, "Interactive deformation of soft tissues with haptic feedback for medical learning," *IEEE Trans. Inf. Technol. Biomed.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 358–363, Dec. 2003, doi: 10.1109/TITB.2003.821311.
- [68] J. Chen, J. T.-I. T. on Systems, undefined Man, undefined and, and undefined 2007,"Review of low frame rate effects on human performance," *academia.edu*.
- [69] P. Richard, G. Birebent, P. Coiffet, G. Burdea, D. Gomez, and N. Langrana, "Effect of Frame Rate and Force Feedback on Virtual Object Manipulation," *Presence Teleoperators Virtual Environ.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 95–108, Jan. 1996, doi: 10.1162/pres.1996.5.1.95.
- [70] B. Watson, V. Spaulding, N. Walker, and W. Ribarsky, "Evaluation of the effects of frame time variation on VR task performance," in *Proceedings - Virtual Reality Annual International Symposium*, 1997, pp. 38–44, doi: 10.1109/vrais.1997.583042.

- [71] F. P. Brooks, "Walkthrough-A Dynamic Graphics System for Simulating Virtual Buildings."
- [72] P. Lindstrom, D. Koller, W. Ribarsky, L. F. Hodges, N. Faust, and G. A. Turner, "Realtime, continuous level of detail rendering of height fields," in *Proceedings of the 23rd Annual Conference on Computer Graphics and Interactive Techniques, SIGGRAPH 1996*, 1996, pp. 109–118, doi: 10.1145/237170.237217.
- [73] T. A. Funkhouser and C. H. Séquin, "Adaptive display algorithm for interactive frame rates during visualization of complex virtual environments," in *Proceedings of the 20th Annual Conference on Computer Graphics and Interactive Techniques, SIGGRAPH 1993*, 1993, pp. 247–254, doi: 10.1145/166117.166149.
- [74] A. Liu, G. Tharp, L. French, S. Lai, and L. Stark, "Some of What One Needs to Know About Using Head-Mounted Displays to Improve Teleoperator Performance," *IEEE Trans. Robot. Autom.*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 638–648, 1993, doi: 10.1109/70.258055.
- [75] S. Nayak and S. Chakraverty, "Three-Dimensional Interval Finite Element," in *Interval Finite Element Method with MATLAB*, Elsevier, 2018, pp. 105–118.
- [76] T. Ertl, "Computer Graphics Principles and Practice," in *Data Acquisition and Analysis for Multimedia GIS*, Springer Vienna, 1996, pp. 411–421.
- [77] P. S. Heckbert, "Survey of Texture Mapping.," *Proc. Graph. Interface*, pp. 207–212, 1986.
- [78] M. Roza, J. Voogd, ... H. J.-F. S., and undefined 1999, "Fidelity requirements specification: A process oriented view," *pdfs.semanticscholar.org*.

- [79] N. J. Maran and R. J. Glavin, "Low- to high-fidelity simulation a continuum of medical education?," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 37, no. s1, pp. 22–28, Nov. 2003, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2923.37.s1.9.x.
- [80] G. Norman, K. Dore, and L. Grierson, "The minimal relationship between simulation fidelity and transfer of learning," *Med. Educ.*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 636–647, Jul. 2012, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2012.04243.x.
- [81] Z. Samawi, T. Miller, and M. S. Haras, "Using High-Fidelity Simulation and Concept Mapping to Cultivate Self-Confidence in Nursing Students," *Nurs. Educ. Perspect.*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 408–409, Nov. 2014, doi: 10.5480/12-1042.1.
- [82] K. L.-J. of N. Education and undefined 2007, "High-fidelity simulation and the development of clinical judgment: Students' experiences," *healio.com*.
- [83] M. W. Scerbo and S. Dawson, "High Fidelity, High Performance?," Simul. Healthc. J. Soc. Simul. Healthc., vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 224–230, 2007, doi: 10.1097/SIH.0b013e31815c25f1.
- [84] D. S. Smink, S. J. Yule, and S. W. Ashley, "Realism in Simulation," *JAMA Surg.*, vol. 152, no. 9, p. 825, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2017.1086.
- [85] R. Brydges, H. Carnahan, D. Rose, L. Rose, and A. Dubrowski, "Coordinating Progressive Levels of Simulation Fidelity to Maximize Educational Benefit," *Acad. Med.*, vol. 85, no. 5, pp. 806–812, May 2010, doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181d7aabd.
- [86] H. K. Kim, D. W. Rattner, and M. A. Srinivasan, "The role of simulation fidelity in laparoscopic surgical training," *Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. (including Subser. Lect. Notes*

*Artif. Intell. Lect. Notes Bioinformatics*), vol. 2878, pp. 1–8, 2003, doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-39899-8\_1.

- [87] E. D. Matsumoto, S. J. Hamstra, S. B. Radomski, and M. D. Cusimano, "The effect of bench model fidelity on endourological skills: A randomized controlled study," *J. Urol.*, vol. 167, no. 3, pp. 1243–1247, 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(05)65274-3.
- [88] R. Hays and M. Singer, *Simulation fidelity in training system design: Bridging the gap between reality and training*. 2012.
- [89] M. A. Seropian, K. Brown, J. S. Gavilanes, and B. Driggers, "Simulation: not just a manikin.," *J. Nurs. Educ.*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 164–9, Apr. 2004.
- [90] R. Miller, "Psychological considerations in the design of training equipment," 1954.
- [91] C. Lathan, M. Tracey, ... M. S.-H. of virtual, and undefined 2002, "Using virtual environments as training simulators: Measuring transfer," *books.google.com*.
- [92] J. A. Allen, R. T. Hays, and L. C. Buffardi, "Maintenance Training Simulator Fidelity and Individual Differences in Transfer of Training," *Hum. Factors J. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc.*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 497–509, Oct. 1986, doi: 10.1177/001872088602800501.
- [93] P. Z. Fritz, T. Gray, and B. Flanagan, "Review of mannequin-based high-fidelity simulation in emergency medicine," *Emerg. Med. Australas.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1–9, Feb. 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1742-6723.2007.01022.x.
- [94] C. Wickens, S. Gordon, and Y. Liu, "An introduction to human factors engineering," 1998.

- [95] S. Arora, N. Sevdalis, D. Nestel, M. Woloshynowych, A. Darzi, and R. Kneebone, "The impact of stress on surgical performance: A systematic review of the literature," *Surgery*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 318-330.e6, Mar. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.SURG.2009.10.007.
- [96] J. E. Driskell, J. H. Johnston, and E. Salas, "Does Stress Training Generalize to Novel Settings?," *Hum. Factors J. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc.*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 99–110, Mar. 2001, doi: 10.1518/001872001775992471.
- [97] C. S. Morris, P. A. Hancock, and E. C. Shirkey, "Motivational Effects of Adding Context Relevant Stress in PC-Based Game Training," *Mil. Psychol.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 135–147, Jan. 2004, doi: 10.1207/S15327876MP1602\_4.
- [98] D. Gaba, A. D.- Anesthesiology, and undefined 1988, "A comprehensive anesthesia simulation environment: re-creating the operating room for research and training.," *europepmc.org*.
- [99] P. Hancock, D. Vincenzi, J. Wise, and M. Mouloua, *Human factors in simulation and training*. 2008.
- [100] A. M. David R. Baum, Sharon Riedel, Robert T. Hays, "Training effectiveness as a function of training device fidelity," *Train. Simul. Tech. area*, 1982.
- [101] S. Chan, P. Li, G. Locketz, K. Salisbury, and N. H. Blevins, "High-fidelity haptic and visual rendering for patient-specific simulation of temporal bone surgery," *Comput. Assist. Surg.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 85–101, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1080/24699322.2016.1189966.
- [102] C. Meakim *et al.*, "Standards of Best Practice: Simulation Standard I: Terminology," *Clin. Simul. Nurs.*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. S3–S11, Jun. 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2013.04.001.

- [103] G. C. Burdea, "Haptics issues in virtual environments," in *Proceedings Computer Graphics International 2000*, pp. 295–302, doi: 10.1109/CGI.2000.852345.
- [104] S. V Kotsis and K. C. Chung, "Application of the "see one, do one, teach one" concept in surgical training.," *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.*, vol. 131, no. 5, pp. 1194–201, May 2013, doi: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e318287a0b3.